•

SF 298 MASTER COPY . KEEP THIS COPY FOR REPRODUCTION PURPOSES

REPORT	Form Approved OMB NO. 0704-0188						
Public reporting butten for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comment regarding this butten estimates or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this butten. Washington Headquarters Services. Directorate for information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jeffersch Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188). Washington, DC 20503							
1 AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blan	k) 2. REPORT DATE June 1998	3. REPORT TYPE A Final Pro	ND DATES COVERED gress Report				
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE NONLINEAR AND DISTRIE USING ARTIFICIAL NEUR	5. FUNDING NUMBERS						
6 AUTHOR(S) Vittal S. Rao Leve	DA AH04-93-6-0217						
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION N University of Missou	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER						
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING A U.S. Army Research Office P.O. Box 12211 Research Triangle Park, NC	10. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER ARO 32109. 52-MA-SM						
11 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES							
The views, opinions and/or findings contained in this report are those of the author(s) and should not be construed as an official Department of the Army position, policy or decision, unless so designated by other documentation.							
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY	STATEMENT						
Approved for public release:	distribution unlimited.	1998	1222 135				
 13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) This interdisciplinary research program is focused on designing and implementing robust controllers on smart structures. The primary research objectives are: (i) structural modeling of smart structures incorporating both material and geometric nonlinearities, (ii) development of controllers using conventional and neural network based algorithms, and (iii) distributed control techniques using spatially distributed sensors and actuators. We have investigated modeling techniques for structures that account for the material and geometric nonlinearities, continuity of tractions across interlaminates, hysteric behavior of the PZTs, interaction between the PZTs and the substrate, orthotropic nature of the PZTs, anisotropic properties of composite plates, and the inertia forces. A structural identification method based on the measurement of eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the structure has been developed and verified using experimental results. We have successfully designed and implemented multiobjective robust controllers as smart structures. Practical considerations and limitations of the controller implementation using neural network hardware are also investigated. 							
Structural modeling, distributed sensors, r	16. PRICE CODE						
17 SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 18. OR REPORT	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICAT OF ABSTRACT	TON 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT				
UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	<u> </u>				
NSN 7540-01-280-5500			Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89				

NONLINEAR AND DISTRIBUTED CONTROL OF SMART STRUCTURES USING ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS

***** {

Final Progress Report

Vittal S. Rao¹, Levent Acar¹, and Romesh C. Batra²

U.S. Army Research Office

DAAH04-93-G-0214

University of Missouri-Rolla¹ Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University²

> Approved for Public Release; Distribution Unlimited

The views, opinions, and/or findings contained in this report are those of the authors and should not be construed as an official Department of the Army position, policy, or decision, unless so designated by other documentation.

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTAL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

· · · ·

• •

.

Statement of the Problem studied	1
Summary of the Most Important Results	. 1
(i) Modeling of Smart Structural Systems	1
Shape Control of Plates Using Piezoceramic Elements	. 1
Free Vibrations of a Linear Thermopiezoelectric	3
Nonlinear Elastroelastic Problems	3
(ii) Modeling and Control of Multivariable Smart Structural Systems Using Distributed	
Sensors	. 3
(iii)Design and Implementation of Robust Controllers	. 5
Design of Robust Controllers with Actuator Saturation	5
Neural Network-Based Structural Identification and Control	. 5
List of all publications and Technical Reports	.17
Refereed Journals	17
Conference Proceedings	18
Presentations	19
Doctoral Dissertation	20
M.S. Thesis	20
List of all Participating Scientific Personnel	20
	 Statement of the Problem studied Summary of the Most Important Results (i) Modeling of Smart Structural Systems Shape Control of Plates Using Piezoceramic Elements Free Vibrations of a Linear Thermopiezoelectric Nonlinear Elastroelastic Problems (ii) Modeling and Control of Multivariable Smart Structural Systems Using Distributed Sensors (iii) Design and Implementation of Robust Controllers

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Schematic sketch of the plate with PZTs	7
Figure 2:	Set up of the "smart" plate	7
Figure 3:	Deformed shapes of the centerline of a simply supported plate for two different	
	orientations of fibers both with and without actuators applying surface forces	7
Figure 4:	Electric field intensity required to suppress the deflections of the centerline of a	
	simply supported aluminum plate Vs the surface area covered by the actuators	7
Figure 5:	Voltage required to suppress the deflections of points on the plate diagonal as a	
8	function of the location of the centroid of the 6 x 6 cm PZT region that is excited	8
Figure 6:	Voltage required to suppress the deflections of points of the plate diagonal as a	
1.80.0	function of the length of the diagonal of the rectangular excited PZT region with its	
	centroid located at an optimum location	8
Figure 7:	Normalized shear stress	9
Figure 8:	Segmented PVDF film	10
Figure 9:	Cantilever beam with uniformly shaped PVDF film sensor	10
Figure 10:	Cantilever plate test article	10
Figure 11:	Plate mode shapes	10
Figure 12:	Structural system frequency response	11
Figure 13:	Mode 2 Robustness Test	12
Figure 14:	Mode 1 Robustness Test	12
Figure 15:	Three mass structure: PZT actuators	13
Figure 16:	Frequency responses: Three mass structure with PZT actuators	13
Figure 17:	Architecture of neural network-based LQG/LTR controller	14
Figure 18:	Neural network-based LOG/LTR controller response	14
Figure 19:	ETANN LOG/LTR controller setup using Model IV	15
Figure 20:	Comparison of LOG/LTR implementations using Model IV	15
Figure 21:	Neural network based controller block diagram	16
Figure 22:	Closed loop versus open loop response	16

A. Statement of the Problem Studied

The primary research objectives are (i) structural modeling of smart structures incorporating both material and geometric nonlinearities, (ii) development of controllers using conventional and neural network based algorithms, and (iii) distributed control techniques using spatially distributed sensors and actuators. The design and implementation of controllers on smart structures requires mathematical representations of the system. We have investigated modeling techniques for structures that account for the material and geometric nonlinearities, continuity of tractions across interlaminates, hysteric behavior of the PZTs, interaction between the PZTs and the substrate, orthotropic nature of the PZTs, anisotropic properties of composite plates, and the inertia forces. The design of active controllers plays a very important role in the overall development of smart structures for a given application. The robust controllers were designed and implemented on smart structures for vibration suppression and mode shape control. These methodologies will minimize the effects of uncertainties on the closed-loop performance of the structural system. We have also investigated the capabilities of artificial neural networks for mathematical modeling and robust control of smart structural systems. The performance of smart structural systems is influenced by structural parameter variations, operating conditions and modeling errors. The identification methods which incorporates uncertainties were investigated. We have also developed distributed sensors for the measurement of physical quantities of the structural systems. Accomplishments in these areas are summarized below.

B. Summary of the Most Important Results

(i) Modeling of Smart Structural Systems

The modeling effort is based on (i) using the three-dimensional linear elasticity theory to analyze vibrations of a plate with PZT layers either bonded to its top and bottom surfaces or embedded in it, (ii) developing form invariant polynomial constitutive relations for nonlinear transversely isotropic and orthotropic piezoceramics, and (iii) developing a finite element code to analyze three-dimensional materially and geometrically nonlinear transient problems involving PZTs embedded in or bonded to the surfaces of a nonlinear elastic structure.

Shape Control of Plates Using Piezoceramic Elements

We have used the first-order shear deformation theory to study deformations of a rectangular plate with piezoceramic elements (PZTs) bonded symmetrically to its top and bottom surfaces and covering 19.8, 28.8, 38.4, 53 and 84% of the surface area of a 30 cm x 30 cm x 1.8 mm simply supported graphite/epoxy plate subjected to 10 N/m² uniformly distributed load on the top surface. It

was found (cf. Figs. 1-4) that the electric field intensity required to suppress the plate deflections decreased sharply as the surface area covered by the PZTs increased from 19.8 to 28.8% but the decrease was small for further increase in the size of PZTs. We note that the voltage required varied with the orientations of fibers in the lamina, and with its material. A feedback control algorithm was implemented and was shown to control the vibrations of the centroid of a square aluminum plate simply supported on two opposite sides and free on the other.

In contrast to the plate theory used above, we also employed the three-dimensional linear elasticity theory to analyze the vibrations of a laminated plate with the bottom and top layers consisting of PZTs. For a 40 cm \times 30 cm \times 1 mm graphite-epoxy plate with 0.1 mm thick PZT top and bottom layers, and essentially equal values for the maximum elastic moduli for the graphite/epoxy lamina and PZT-G1195, as should be clear from the results summarized in the following table, the attachment of PZT layers changes noticeably the natural frequencies of the composite plate.

n/m	1	2	3	Case
1	1.260	4.217	9.208	1
	1.260	4.170	9.170	2
	1.455	4.065	8.550	3
2	2.373	5.041	9.919	1
	2.330	5.040	9.880	2
	3.585	5.790	10.035	3
3	4.466	6.761	11.343	1
	4.460	6.710	11.290	2
	7.350	9.225	13.005	3

Values of resonant frequencies Ω_{mn} for the graphite/epoxy plate as computed by the plate theory and the present method and also by the present method for the plate with PZTs bonded to the top and bottom surfaces^a

^aCase 1, plate theory; case 2, present method, plate without PZTs; case 3, present method, plate with PZTs.

For the plate vibrating at a frequency close to one of its natural frequencies with the displacement field given by $u_3^0 = 0.3 \sin(m\pi x_1/40) \sin(n\pi x_2/30) e^{\Omega_{mn}t} mm$, $u_1^0 = 0$, and a voltage $\pm V_0 e^{i\Omega_m t}$ applied to a 6 cm x 6 cm square region of the top and bottom PZTs with zero voltage applied to the rest of the PZT surfaces, we determined the values of V_0 required to suppress the deflections of points on the plate diagonal as a function of the location of the centroid of the 6 cm x 6 cm region. The most effective locations, as shown in Figs. 5 and 6 of the centroid of the square PZT region are points where the amplitude of initial vibrations of the plate is maximum. The distribution of the nondimensional shear stress at the interface between the plate and the top PZT layer for the structure vibrating at a frequency close to Ω_{11} revealed high shear stress (e.g. see Fig. 7) at the edges of the excited square region; similar results were obtained for other modes of vibration. The high value of the shear stress at a point may result in delamination of the PZT layer there.

Free Vibrations of a Linear Thermopiezoelectric Body

We have used two perturbation methods to ascertain the changes in the frequencies caused by thermal dissipation in a thermopiezoelectric body. In the first method, the solution is perturbed with respect to heat conductivity and in the second with respect to the thermopiezoelectric constants. Both methods give the relative frequency shift to be imaginary thus implying the decay of the amplitude of vibrations. In the first method adiabatic material constants are used, and in the second isothermal material constants are employed. For thickness stretch vibrations of a quartz plate, the two methods give close results: the magnitude of the shift in the relative frequency which represents the effects of thermal damping is of the order of 10^{-10} .

Nonlinear Elastroelastic Problems

Mixed variational principles in which stresses, electric field, displacements and electric potential are considered as field variables are often employed in the finite element solution of problems involving cracks or other discontinuities. We have developed various functionals and have shown that the vanishing of their first variations is equivalent to the pertinent governing equations and side conditions such as initial and boundary conditions. Thus the solution of an initial-boundary-value problem entails finding a stationary value of one of these functionals.

A finite element code capable of analyzing dynamic finite deformations of a nonlinear elastic structure with nonlinear piezoceramic elements has been developed and has been successfully debugged. The problem formulation accounts for both material and geometric nonlinearities and the applied load is an arbitrary function of time. The PZTs are assumed to be perfectly bonded to the adjoining matrix material. The coupled set of ordinary differential equations, obtained by the Galerkin approximation of the governing partial differential equations, are solved by the explicit central-difference method. However, the nonlinear algebraic equations obtained by applying the Galerkin approximation technique to the Maxwell equations with no inertia terms are solved by an implicit method. Several test cases have been run, and techniques to make the code more computationally efficient are being investigated.

(ii) Modeling and Control of Multivariable Smart Structural Systems Using Distributed Sensors

Obtaining minimal system realizations suitable for control system design can be particularly challenging for multivariable smart structural systems. The large number of closely spaced lightly damped modes hinder the modeling process making it time consuming and difficult. Parameter

variations, incorrect assumptions and inexact boundary conditions also increase the modeling difficulty. We have developed a system identification technique for the derivation of minimal, continuous time state variable models for multivariable smart structural systems. This structural identification technique is based on the measurement of eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the structural system. Unlike computational identification techniques, the availability of multiple sensors ,simplify the modeling effort and allows the implementation of full state feedback controllers with simple analog hardware circuits. The amount of hardware required for the implementation of an analog linear quadratic regulator is significantly reduced when compared with standard discrete control implementation. We have developed a methodology for the generation of polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) film sensor arrays which measure the parametric structural quantities for system identification and feedback control (Figures 8-9).

For a general unknown distributed parameter system, the eigenvalues and eigenvectors can not be measured directly. Eigenvalues are conspicuous in the frequency domain and the eigenvectors exist at near steady state conditions. By utilizing a priori knowledge of the structural systems, we developed a method for the direct measurement of these quantities using shaped and segmented PVDF film sensors. The required shape functions are extremely simple even for complex multimember distributed parameter systems. The shape functions developed are also insensitive to parametric changes or uncertainty in the structure. Using the triangular and rectangular shaped sensors, we can measure directly structural displacement, velocity, rotation , and angular velocity of the structural parameters. Identification and control are successfully implemented on a multivariable plate system and experimental results are quite satisfactory (Figures 10-12).

The performance of smart structural system is influenced by structural parameter variations, operating conditions and modeling errors. A mathematical model of the smart structural system must include not only the nominal plant, but also the uncertainties in the system. Often information related to these uncertainties is available during the system identification process, however, most system identification techniques do not address these issues. We developed a systematic identification procedure for the incorporation of eigenvalue variations in the structural identification procedure. A minimal amount of experimental data is required for the identification of uncertainties. measurement accuracy and parameter variation information on the specific values being measured is translated into the structured uncertainty model. With the structured uncertainty modeling in place, robust control systems are designed and implemented on experimental lattice structure.

(iii) Design and Implementation of Robust Controllers

Design of Robust Controllers with Actuator Saturation

The design and implementation of robust controllers on smart structural systems is often constrained by available control force of the actuators. The Lead Zirconite Titanate (PZT) actuators which are used for the control of flexible structures have limited control authority. The performance of the system is often limited by control effort constraint instead of the closed loop stability and performance. Due to the limited availability of control effort, it is desirable to utilize all of the control force in order to obtain the best performance. We developed a procedure by integrating robust control design methodologies with constrained actuator techniques for designing controllers. In order to implement the proposed controllers, two-dimensional distributed structure, called lattice structure, is designed and fabricated. Actuation of the structure is provided by PZT actuators. Two shaped PVDF film sensors were used to measure the displacement of the structure. A mathematical model of the structure is determined using experimental test data. The model is validated using the finite element modeling techniques. The robust controllers have been designed for the structure by incorporating the structured and unstructured uncertainties in the design methodology The performance of the closed-loop system for natural frequency variations is determined experimentally. The performance and robustness properties of the controllers are satisfactory (Figures 13-14).

We have also developed methods for design of robust controllers for smart structures with multiple objective functions. This method provides a tradeoff between closed-loop performance and disturbance attenuation. We have also demonstrated the applicability of distributed sensors for the implementation of full state feedback controllers. The lattice structure experimental test article was utilized to demonstrate the uncertainty modeling and robust multiobjective control implementations.

Neural Network-Based Structural Identification and Control

The design and implementation of robust controllers on smart structural systems require a mathematical representation of the system. The structural identification method called the eigensystem realization algorithm (ERA) is used for system identification purposes. The ERA utilizes strongly measured signals for the evaluation of models and hence minimizes the inaccuracies due to measurement noise. A neural network-based procedure for determining the Markov parameters of dynamical systems from experimentally determined input-output sequences has been developed A mathematical model of the structural system is then determined from these Markov parameters using ERA (Figures 15-16). The neural network architecture for system identification utilize the standard backpropagation learning algorithm for training and are often large in size. Therefore, such networks typically require very long training times. To enhance the rate at which such networks learn and

hence reduce the learning time, we have developed an accelerated adaptive learning rate algorithm. This algorithm adjusts the learning rate used in the standard backpropogation algorithm at every epoch so as to minimize the output error at a faster rate and improve the error performance.

Feedforward and specialized feedback neural networks have found extensive application in the area of dynamical system control. In earlier studies the analytical results of these methods were verified using simulation studies only. The main limitation to real time implementation was the available hardware and computational power. We have successfully designed and implemented a neural network-based multiinput-multioutput linear quadratic Gaussian with loop transfer recovery (LQG/LTR) controller was implemented on the three mass smart structural system using PC-based data acquisition system (Figures 17-18). The next step toward implementation of neural networkbased controllers is the use of Intel's electronically trainable analog neural network (ETANN) chip. This study also demonstrated successful application of the ETANN chip for robust control of smart structural systems. The cantilever plate smart structural system is used as the experimental test structure to implement a ETANN-based LQG/LTR controller. A custom interface board with analog hardware is designed and built to interface the sensor and actuator signals with the ETANN chip. The analog delay line chip manufactured by Tanner Research Inc. is used with the ETANN chip to realize the network architectures. A key feature of this study is that a single chip implementation of a robust controller has been made possible by the use of the analog neural network chip. Initially a significant difference was noticed in the behavior of a network in simulation and on the one implemented using ETANN chip. This was due to the inherent properties of the analog domain and the limitations of the chip such as weight read/write precision, non-ideal shape of the sigmoid activation function, etc. The factors involved with the implementation of the controller were systematically identified. various corrective methods were incorporated to either eliminate or minimize the anomalies in the functioning of the ETANN chip and the associated analog hardware. Then the closed loop performance of the ETANN-based single chip robust controller was in good agreement with the simulation and experimental controller (Figures 19-20).

Smart structural systems are inherently nonlinear due to material and geometrical properties and nonlinearities in sensors and actuators. These structures exhibit a linear operating region which can be controlled using linear controllers. We have utilized the ability of neural networks to map nonlinear dynamical systems to accommodate the structural nonlinearities. In addition, the adaptability property of neural networks is utilized to modify the controller in response to changing structural parameters and changes in actuators and sensors. Simulation studies of the performance of a closed loop time varying linear and nonlinear systems have been studied with and without on-line adaptation. The simulation results are very good (Figures 21-22).





,

upplied distributed load=10N/m

8

25







.

•

.





••

Fig. 5 Voltage required to suppress the deflections of points on the plate diagonal as a function of the location of the centroid of the 6 \times 6 cm PZT region that is excited. The plate is vibrating steadily at a frequency close to a) Ω_{11} , b) Ω_{13} , c) Ω_{21} , and d) Ω_{22} .



Fig. 6 Voltage required to suppress the deflections of points on the plate diagonal as a function of the length of the diagonal of the rectangular excited PZT region with its centroid located at an optimum location. The plate is steadily vibrating at a frequency close to a) Ω_{11} , b) Ω_{13} , c) Ω_{21} , and d) Ω_{22} .



. . .

Fig. 7 Normalized shear stress $T_{31}(x_1, x_2, h) = \tau_{31}(x_1, x_2, h) h^b / e_{31}^b \bar{V}^b$ under the top actuator for Ω near Ω_{11} .



Figure 9 . Cantilever beam with uniformly shaped PVDF film sensor.

 l_2

PVDF Film



.

•

*

Figure 1.0 Cantilever plate test article.





• .

•



÷



• •





٠

.

4

.





40

Smart Structural Systems

٠

.

4

.

y₁(k) y₂(k)

> with PZT actuators **3 Mass Structure**

> > u₂(k)

LQG/LTR Controller

u1^(k)

u₁(k)

y₁(k - 9) Feedforward

Delay Units

u₂(k)

 $\begin{cases} y_2(k-9) \\ y_1(k) \\ y_1(k-1) \\ Multilayered \end{cases}$

y₁(k)

y₂(k) y₂(k - 1)

y₂(k)



• •

.





(10v) əbu1ilqmA



C. List of All Publications and Technical Reports

Refereed Journals

- 1. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Free Vibrations of a Piezoelectric Body," J. Elasticity, 34, 239-254, 1994.
- 2. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "A Theory of Electroded Thin Thermopiezoelectric Plates Subject to Large Driving Voltages," J. Appl. Physics, 76, 5411-5417, 1994.
- 3. J.S. Yang, R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "The Cylindrical Bending Vibrations of a Laminated Elastic Plate Due to Piezoelectric Actuators," Smart Materials & Structures, 3, 485-493, 1994.
- 4. R. Damle, R. Lashlee, V. Rao and F. Kern, "Identification and Robust Control of Smart Structures Using Artificial Neural Networks," J. Smart Mater. and Struct., 3(35), 35-46, 1994.
- 5. R. Butler, V. Rao, "Optimal Control of Infinite-Order Smart Composite Structural Systems Using Distributed Sensors," Composites Engineering, 4(6), 577-589, 1994.
- 6. V. Rao, R. Damle, C. Tebbe and F. Kern, "The Adaptive Control of Smart Structures Using Neural Networks," Smart Mater. Struct., 3, 354-366, 1994.
- 7. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "A Second-Order Theory of Piezoelectric Materials," J. Acoustic Soc. America, 97, 280-288, 1995.
- 8. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Thickness Shear Vibrations of a Circular Cylindrical Piezoelectric Shell," J. Acoustic Soc. America, 97, 309-312, 1995.
- 9. R.C. Batra and J.S. Yang, "Second Order Constitutive Relations for Transversely Isotropic Porous Piezoelectric Materials," J. Acoustical Soc. America, 97, 2595-2598, 1995.
- 10. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Free Vibrations of a Linear Thermopiezoelectric Body," J. Thermal Stresses, 18, 278-295, 1995.
- 11. R.C. Batra and J.S. Yang, "Saint-Venant's Principle in Linear Piezoelectricity," J. Elasticity, 38, 209-218, 1995.
- 12. K. Ghosh and R.C. Batra, "Shape Control of Plates Using Piezoceramic Elements," AIAA J., 33, 1354-1357, 1995.
- 13. R.C. Batra and K. Ghosh, "Deflection Control During Dynamic Deformations of a Rectangular Plate Using Piezoceramic Elements," AIAA J., 33, 1547-1548, 1995.
- 14. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Conservation Laws in Linear Piezoelectricity," Eng'g Fracture Mechs., 51, 1041-1047, 1995.
- 15. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Mixed Variational Principles in Nonlinear Piezoelectricity," Int. J. Nonlinear Mechs., 30, 719-726, 1995.
- 16. R. Damle, V. Rao and F. Kern, "Multivariable Neural Network Based Controllers for Smart Structures," J. of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures, 6, 516-528, 1995.
- 17. R.C. Batra, X.Q. Liang and J.S. Yang, "Shape Control of Vibrating Simply Supported Plates," AIAA J., 34, 116-122, 1996.
- 18. R.C. Batra, X.Q. Liang and J.S. Yang, "The Vibration of a Simply Supported Rectangular Elastic Plate Due to Piezoelectric Actuators," Int. J. Solids & Structures, 33, 1597-1618, 1996.
- 19. R. Butler and V. Rao, "A State Space Modeling and Control for Multivariable Smart Structural Systems," Intl. J. on Smart Materials and Structures, 5(4), 386-399, 1996.
- 20. R. Damle, V. Rao and F. Kern, "Robust Control of Smart Structures Using Neural Network Hardware," Smart Mater. Struct., 6, pp. 301-314, 1997.
- 21. R. Butler, V.Rao, and S. Sana, "Design of Robust Controllers for Smart Structural Systems with Actuator Saturation," J. of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures, Vol.8, No.9, pp.775-783, September 1997.
- 22. V. Rao, R. Butler and W. Zhao, "Robust Multiobjective Controllers for Smart Structures," J. of Reinforced Plastics and Composites, 15, pp. 1237-1248, 1996.
- 23. R. Damle and V. Rao, "Neural Network Based Optimizing Controllers for Smart Structural Systems," Smart Mater. Struct., 7, pp. 23-30, 1998.
- 24. R. Damle and V. Rao, "Smart Structural Systems," Book Chapter, in Industrial and Manufacturing Systems, Edited by C.T. Leondes, pp. 181-211, Academic Press, 1998

- 25. Y.-N. Huang and R.C. Batra, "Energy-Momentum Tensor in Nonsimple Dielectrics," J. Elasticity, Vol.42, pp.275-281,1996.
- 26. R.C. Batra and X. Zhong, "Saint-Venant's Principle for a Helical Piezoelectric Body," J. Elasticity, Vol.43, pp.69-79, 1996.
- 27. X. Zhong and R.C. Batra, "Modeling of Macroscopic Response of Phase Transforming Materials Under Quasistatic Loading," J. Elasticity, Vol.44, pp.145-160, 1996.
- 28. R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "The Vibration of a Rectangular Laminated Elastic Plate with Embedded Piezoelectric Sensors and Actuators," *Computers & Structures*, Vol.63, pp.203-216, 1997.
- 29. Y.-N. Huang and R.C. Batra, "A Theory of Thermoviscoelastic Dielectrics," J. Thermal Stresses, Vol.19, pp.419-430,1996.
- 30. R.C. Batra and X.Q.Liang, "Finite Dimensional Dynamic Deformation of Smart Structures," Computational Mechanics, Vol.20, pp.427-438, 1997.
- 31. X.Q. Liang and R.C. Batra, "Changes in Frequencies of a Laminated Plate Caused by Embedded Piezoelectric Layers," AIAA Journal, Vol.35, No.10, pp.1672-1673,1997.

Conference Proceedings

- 1. R. Lashlee, V. Rao and F Kern, "H∞ Optimal Control of Smart Structures," <u>SPIE Proceedings</u>, Vol. 2192, pp. 156-167, 1994.
- 2. J. Antony and L. Acar, "Real-Time Nonlinear Optimal Control Using Neural Networks," Proceedings of the American Control Conference, Vol. 3, pp. 2926-2930, 1994.
- 3. R. Butler, V. Rao and L. Koval, "Controller Implementation on Infinite Order Structural Systems Using Distributed Sensors," <u>SPIE Proceedings</u>, Vol. 2190, pp. 358-368, 1994.
- 4. V. Rao, R. Butler and W. Zhao, "Robust Multiobjective Controllers for Smart Structures," Proc. of the 5th International Conf. on Adaptive Structures, pp. 163-172, 1994.
- 5. R. Butler and V. Rao, "State Measurement and System Identification of a Cantilever Beam Using Distributed PVDF Film Sensors," Proceedings of Symposium on Active Materials and Smart Structures, SPIE Vol. 2427, pp. 65-79, 1994.
- 6. V. Rao and R. Damle, "Identification and Control of Smart Structures Using Neural Networks: A Survey," <u>Proceedings of the 33rd IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control</u>, Vol. 1, pp. 91-96, 1994.
- 7. V. Rao, R. Butler and R. Damle, "Robust Control of Smart Composite Plate Systems," Proceedings of International Conf. on Composites Engineering, pp. 423-424, 1994.
- 8. J.S. Yang, R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "Vibration of a Simply Supported Rectangular Elastic Plate Due to Piezoelectric Actuators," <u>Mathematics and Control in Smart Structures</u>, (V.V. Varadan, ed.), SPIE, Bellingham, WA, pp. 168-181, 1995.
- 9. R.C. Batra and J.S. Yang, "Constitutive Relations for Finite Deformations of Transversely Isotropic Piezoelectric Porous Materials," <u>Mathematics and Control in Smart Structures</u>, (V.V. Varadan, ed.), SPIE, Bellingham, WA, pp. 484-492, 1995.
- 10. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Equations for the Extension and Flexure of Relatively Thin Thermopiezoelectric Plates Subjected to Large Electric Fields," <u>Contemporary Research in</u> Engineering Science, (R.C. Batra, ed.), Springer, pp. 654-669, 1995.
- 11. R. Butler and V. Rao, "Identification and Control of Two-Dimensional Smart Structures Using Distributed Sensors," <u>1995 North American Conference on Smart Structures and Materials</u>, SPIE, Vol. 2442, pp. 58-69, 1995.
- 12. R. Damle, V. Rao, S. Glover and F. Kern, "Control of Smart Structures Using Analog Neural Network Hardware," SPIE, Vol. 2442, pp. 412-422, 1995.
- 13. J. Chandra, V. Rao, R. Butler and R. Damle, "Multidisciplinary Research in Smart Structures: A Survey," Proceedings of the 1995 American Control Conference, Vol. 6, pp. 4167-4172, Seattle, WA, June 1995.
- 14. R. Butler and V. Rao, "Sate Space Modeling and Control of MIMO Structures," Proc. of the 34th IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, pp. 3534-3539, New Orleans, LA, Dec. 1995.

- 15. C. Bowman, V. Rao and F. Kern, "Design and Implementation of Digital Control on Smart Structures Using Single Board Computers," <u>Proc. of the Sixth International Conf. on Adaptive</u> <u>Structures</u>, pp. 327-337, Key West, FL, Nov. 15-18, 1995.
- 16. R. Butler and V. Rao, "Incorporation of Structural Uncertainties in a Smart Structural System Identification Techniques," Proc. of the 1996 North American Conf. on Smart Structures and Materials, Vol. 2715, pp. 2-15, San Diego, CA, Feb. 1996.
- 17. R. Damle and V. Rao, "Control of Linear and Nonlinear Structural Systems Using Neural Networks," Proc. of the 1996 North American Conference on Smart Structures and Materials, Vol. 2715, pp. 28-40, San Diego, CA, Feb. 1996.
- 18. R. Butler, V. Rao and R. Damle, "Design of Robust Controllers for Smart Structural Systems with Actuator Saturation," Proc. of Seventh International Conf. on Adaptive Structures, pp. 95-105, Rome, Italy, Sept. 1996.
- 19. R. Damle and V. Rao, "Control of Smart Structural Systems Using Artificial Neural Networks," <u>Proc. Fourth International Conf. on Control, Automation, Robotics and Vision</u>, Vol. 3, pp. <u>1929-1933</u>, Singapore, Dec. 1996.
- 20. R. Damle and V. Rao, "Real-Time Adaptive Control of Nonlinear Smart Structural Systems Using Neural Networks," <u>Proc. of SPIE Smart Structures and Materials 1997</u>, Vol. 3039, pp. 34-44, San Diego, CA, March 1997.
- R. Nelson, S. Glover and V. Rao, "Vibration Suppression of Smart Structural Systems Using Predictive Control," <u>Proc. of SPIE Smart Structures and Materials 1997</u>, Vol. 3039, pp. 350-361, San Diego, CA, March 1997.
- 22. J. Kelly, H.C. Bowman, V. Rao and H. Pottinger, "Design and Implementation of Digital Controllers for Smart Structures Using Field Programmable Gate Arrays," Proc. of SPIE Smart Structures and Materials 1997, Vol. 3046, pp. 298-309, San Diego, CA, March 1997.
- 23. S. Sana and V.Rao, "Design of Actuator-limited Robust Controllers Using Linear Matrix Inequalities," Proc. of SPIE Smart Structures and Materials 1998, San Diego, CA, March 1998
- 24. R.C. Batra and J.S. Yang, "Saint-Venant's Principle for Linear Piezoelectric Porous Materials," Contemporary Research in the Mechanics and Mathematics of Materials, (R.C. Batra and M.F. Beatty, eds.), CIMNE, Barcelona, Spain (in press).
- 25. R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "Vibrations of Rectangular Laminated Plates with Embedded Sensors and Actuators," <u>Mathematics and Control in Smart Structures</u>, (V.V. Varadan, ed.), (in press).

Presentations

- 1. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "A Second-Order Theory of Piezoelectric Materials," ASME Winter Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL 1994.
- 2. J.S. Yang, R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "The Vibration of a Simply Supported Rectangular Elastic Plate Due to Piezoelectric Actuators," 1995 North American Conf. on Smart Materials and Structures, San Diego, Feb. 27-March 3, 1995.
- 3. R.C. Batra and J.S. Yang, "Second-Order Constitutive Relations for Transversely Isotropic Porous Piezoelectric Materials," 1995 North American Conf. on Smart Materials and Structures, San Diego, Feb. 27-March 3, 1995.
- 4. Y.-N. Huang and R.C. Batra, "On Energy-Momentum Tensor for Nonsimple Elastic Dielectrics," 32nd Annual Meeting of the Society of Engineering Science, New Orleans, Oct. 1995.
- 5. J.S. Yang and R.C. Batra, "Equations for the Extension and Flexure of Relatively Thin Thermopiezoelectric Plates Subjected to Large Electric Fields," 32nd Annual Meeting of the Society of Engineering Science, New Orleans, Oct. 1995.
- 6. R.C. Batra and X.Q. Liang, "Vibrations of Rectangular Laminated Plates with Embedded Sensors and Actuators," 1996 North American Conf. on Smart Materials and Structures, San Diego, Feb. 26-29, 1996.
- 7. R.C. Batra, "Shape Control of Rectangular Plates," Univ. of L'Aquilla, L.'Aquilla, Italy, June 1995.
- 8. R.C. Batra, "Piezoelectric Theory," Univ. of L'Aquilla, L'Aquilla, Italy, June 1995.

Doctoral Dissertation

- 1. X.Q. Liang, "Control of Motions of a Nonlinear Structure Using Piezoceramic Elements," Virginia Tech., Dec. 1996.
- 2. Robert K. Butler "Identification and Control of Smart Structural Systems Utilizing Multiple Distributed Sensors," University of Missouri-Rolla, 1996.
- 3. Rajendra R. Damle, "Neural Networks for Identification and Control of Smart Structures," University of Missouri-Rolla, 1997

M.S. Thesis

- 4. K.S. Gosh, "Shape Control of Plates Using Piezoceramic Elements," Univ. of Missouri-Rolla, 1994.
- 5. Kerry S. Martin, "Robust Control of Seismic Structures Using Independent Modal Space Estimation and Control," UMR, August 1995.
- 6. Rodney D. Nelson, "Vibration Suppression of Smart Structural Systems Using Predictive Control," UMR, March 1996

D. List of All Participating Scientific Personnel

Vittal S. Rao, Principal Investigator Levent Acar, Co-Investigator Romesh C. Batra, Co-Investigator

Rajendra Damle, Graduate Student Robert Butler, Graduate Student Kerry Martin, Graduate Student Rodney Nelson, Graduate Student Steven Glover, Undergraduate Student A. Urbanc, Undergraduate Student T. Han, Graduate Student K.S. Ghosh, Graduate Student X.Q. Liang, Graduate Student J.S. Yang, Visiting Scientist Y.N. Huang, Visiting Scientist X. Zhong, Visiting Scientist